

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-SECOND LEGISLATURE

SECOND REGULAR SESSION
JANUARY 7, 2026 to APRIL 29, 2026

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
SECOND REGULAR SESSION
NONEMERGENCY LAWS IS
JULY 29, 2026

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2026

CHAPTER 533
H.P. 544 - L.D. 858

**An Act to Ensure Behavioral
and Mental Health Services
Are Available to Students by
Providing Grants to Schools
That Contract for Those
Services**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 20-A MRSA c. 223, sub-c. 10, head-note is amended to read:

SUBCHAPTER 10

**~~YOUTH BEHAVIORAL AND MENTAL
HEALTH FIRST AID TRAINING~~**

Sec. 2. 20-A MRSA §6672 is enacted to read:

§6672. Behavioral and mental health grant program

1. Grant program. The department shall establish and administer a grant program to provide grants to school administrative units that contract for behavioral and mental health services provided by licensed behavioral and mental health service providers.

2. Limitation on use of funds. Funds provided under the grant program under this section may be used only for behavioral and mental health services that are not otherwise covered or reimbursable through the MaineCare program. Funds must be used in a manner that ensures that contracted behavioral and mental health service providers do not supplant qualified and available school administrative unit behavioral and mental health staff.

3. Grant program funding based on population. In administering the grant program under this section, the department shall provide grant funds according to the population of a school administrative unit as follows:

- A. Two hundred fifty or fewer students, \$3,000;
- B. Two hundred fifty-one students to 500 students, \$6,000; and
- C. More than 500 students, \$9,000.

Sec. 3. Appropriations and allocations. The following appropriations and allocations are made.

EDUCATION, DEPARTMENT OF
School and Student Supports Z270

Initiative: Provides one-time funds in fiscal year 2025-26 and fiscal year 2026-27 only for grants to school administrative units for contracted behavioral and mental health services for students. The grants are based on the population of each school administrative unit.

GENERAL FUND	2025-26	2026-27
All Other	\$100,000	\$100,000
GENERAL FUND TOTAL	\$100,000	\$100,000

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 534
H.P. 556 - L.D. 870

**An Act Regarding the
Membership of the Maine
Land Use Planning
Commission**

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 12 MRSA §683-A, first ¶, as amended by PL 2013, c. 256, §3, is further amended to read:

The Maine Land Use Planning Commission, as established by Title 5, section 12004-D, subsection 1-A to carry out the purposes stated in section 681, is created within the Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry and in this chapter called "the commission." The commission is charged with implementing this chapter. The commission consists of ~~9~~ 11 members, appointed in accordance with subsections ~~1-A~~ and 2. All appointments under this section are subject to review by the joint standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over conservation matters and to confirmation by the Senate.

Sec. 2. 12 MRSA §683-A, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2013, c. 256, §3, is repealed.

Sec. 3. 12 MRSA §683-A, sub-§1-A is enacted to read:

1-A. Appointments by Governor. Except as provided in subsection 2, the Governor shall appoint 2 members to the commission as follows:

A. One appointee who resides or works in the commission's jurisdiction, is a former resident of the commission's jurisdiction or has significant professional experience working within the commission's jurisdiction and who has expertise in one or more of the areas of forestry, land use planning, conservation, fisheries, wildlife, outdoor recreation and natural resources-related businesses that operate in the commission's jurisdiction; and

B. One appointee who is a member of a federally recognized Indian nation, tribe or band in this State based on the joint recommendation of the federally recognized Indian nations, tribes and bands in the State.

Sec. 4. 12 MRSA §683-A, sub-§2, as amended by PL 2013, c. 256, §3, is further amended to read:

2. Appointment of members representing a county. One member must be appointed by each of the 8 counties with the most acreage in the unorganized or deorganized areas subject to the jurisdiction of the commission. The board of county commissioners for each of the counties shall appoint by majority vote a resident of that county to serve as a member of the commission. A county commissioner who is a candidate for appointment to serve on the commission may not vote on that appointment. In making the appointment, the board of county commissioners shall actively seek and give consideration to persons residing in or near the unorganized or deorganized areas within the county. The At least 3 months before the end of a term for a commissioner appointed by a board of county commissioners, the director of the commission shall provide that board of county commissioners with general information about the commission's jurisdiction, the roles and responsibilities of a member of the commission and other materials that the board of county commissioners may share with interested applicants. Each board of county commissioners shall advertise the position for at least 30 days and in the same manner as the county advertises personnel positions. The board of county commissioners shall accept written or electronic applications from candidates, conduct interviews with candidates as determined by the board, evaluate candidates based on required qualifications and select from among those candidates an appointee.

An appointee under this subsection must have expertise in ~~commerce and industry, fisheries and wildlife, forestry or, conservation issues as they relate to the commission's jurisdiction and must, fisheries, wildlife, land use planning, outdoor recreation or natural resources-based businesses that operate in the commission's jurisdiction and must reside or work in the commission's jurisdiction~~, be a former resident of the commission's jurisdiction or have significant professional experience working within the commission's jurisdiction.

- ~~A. Reside in the commission's jurisdiction;~~
- ~~B. Work in the commission's jurisdiction; or~~
- ~~C. Be a former resident or be retired after having worked for a minimum of 5 years within the commission's jurisdiction.~~

If a board of county commissioners fails to appoint a member to the commission under this subsection within 90 business days of a vacancy on the commission to be filled by that county, the Governor shall appoint a resident of that county meeting the criteria in subsection ~~1~~ 1-A to fill the vacancy.

For any county appointee, the board of county commissioners shall provide to the Office of the Governor, the President of the Senate and, the Speaker of the House of Representatives and the director of the commission the name and address of the appointee, together with information concerning that person's background and

qualifications, in the same manner required of the Governor for nominations made pursuant to Title 3, section 154. A board of county commissioners has the same authority as the Governor, pursuant to Title 3, section 154, to withdraw the name of an appointee at any time before the Senate votes. The provisions of Title 3, sections 155 to 158 apply to the process of legislative review and confirmation of all county appointees to the commission.

Sec. 5. 12 MRSA §683-A, sub-§2-A is enacted to read:

2-A. Legislative appointment. The President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House shall jointly appoint one at-large member to the commission who has a scientific or technical background in one or more of the areas of forestry, land use planning, conservation, fisheries, wildlife, outdoor recreation and natural resource-based businesses that operate in the commission's jurisdiction and through life or work experience demonstrates knowledge of issues important to the commission's jurisdiction.

Sec. 6. 12 MRSA §683-A, sub-§4, as amended by PL 2013, c. 256, §3, is further amended to read:

4. Terms. All members are appointed to 4-year terms and may not serve more than 2 consecutive terms. Any member who has not been reappointed by the Governor or a board of county commissioners prior to the expiration of that member's term may not continue to serve on the commission, unless the Governor notifies the Legislature in writing prior to the expiration of that member's term that extension of that member's term is required to ensure fair consideration of specific major applications pending before the commission. That member's term ends upon final commission decisions on the specific applications identified in the Governor's communication. Any member reappointed by the Governor or a board of county commissioners prior to the expiration of that member's term continues to serve on the commission until the appointment is acted upon by the Legislature. Once a member of the commission has been appointed by the Governor or a board of county commissioners, a vacancy of that seat must be filled by the same appointing authority as provided in this section. A vacancy during an unexpired term is filled only for the unexpired portion of the term.

Sec. 7. 12 MRSA §684, first ¶, as amended by PL 2011, c. 682, §8, is further amended to read:

The commission shall elect annually, from its own membership, a chair, vice-chair and such other officers it considers necessary. Meetings are held at the call of the chair or at the call of more than 1/2 of the membership. Meetings must be held at a location within the jurisdiction of the commission or another convenient location approved by the chair. The commission, acting in accordance with the procedures set forth in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter ~~2~~ 2-A, may adopt whatever

rules it considers necessary for the conduct of its business. The commission shall keep minutes of all proceedings, which are a public record available and on file in the office of the commission. Members of the commission are compensated as provided in Title 5, chapter 379. Commission members must receive an orientation and annual continuing education on this chapter, commission rules and planning and regulatory processes. A quorum of the commission for the transaction of business is ~~5 members. No action may be taken by the commission unless upon approval by a vote of 5 members a simple majority of commission members.~~

Sec. 8. Appropriations and allocations. The following appropriations and allocations are made.

AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY, DEPARTMENT OF

Maine Land Use Planning Commission Z236

Initiative: Provides one-time funding for laptops and other technology items for 2 additional board members.

GENERAL FUND	2025-26	2026-27
All Other	\$6,850	\$0
GENERAL FUND TOTAL	\$6,850	\$0

Maine Land Use Planning Commission Z236

Initiative: Provides funding for associated administrative overhead for additional board members.

GENERAL FUND	2025-26	2026-27
All Other	\$9,960	\$9,960
GENERAL FUND TOTAL	\$9,960	\$9,960

Maine Land Use Planning Commission Z236

Initiative: Provides funding for per diem expenses of additional board members.

GENERAL FUND	2025-26	2026-27
Personal Services	\$990	\$990
GENERAL FUND TOTAL	\$990	\$990

AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY, DEPARTMENT OF

DEPARTMENT TOTALS	2025-26	2026-27
GENERAL FUND	\$17,800	\$10,950
DEPARTMENT TOTAL - ALL FUNDS	\$17,800	\$10,950

See title page for effective date.

**CHAPTER 535
H.P. 616 - L.D. 957**

An Act to Integrate Asian American, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander History into the Statewide System of Learning Results

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 20-A MRSA §4706, as amended by PL 2023, c. 537, §§1 and 2, is further amended to read:

§4706. Instruction in American history, African American studies, Maine studies, Wabanaki studies and the history of genocide and Asian American, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander history

Instruction in American history, African American studies, government, citizenship, Maine studies ~~and~~, the history of genocide ~~and Asian American, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander history~~ must be aligned with the parameters for essential instruction and graduation requirements established under section 6209.

1. American history. American history, government and citizenship, including the United States Constitution, the Declaration of Independence, the importance of voting and the privileges and responsibilities of citizenship, must be taught in and required for graduation from all elementary and secondary schools, both public and private. African American studies ~~and Asian American, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander history~~ must be included in the review of content standards and performance indicators of the system of learning results conducted in accordance with section 6209, subsection 4.

2. Maine studies. Maine history, including the Constitution of Maine, Maine geography and environment and the natural, industrial and economic resources of Maine and Maine's cultural and ethnic heritage, must be taught. A required component of Maine studies is Wabanaki studies, and Wabanaki studies may be taught as a component of other content areas, as appropriate, including but not limited to the content areas of English language arts, mathematics, science and fine arts. ~~Wabanaki studies, Maine Asian American, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander history and Maine African American studies~~ must be included in the review of content standards and performance indicators of the learning results conducted in accordance with section 6209, subsection 4. Wabanaki studies must address the following topics:

A. Wabanaki governments and political systems and their relationship with local, state, national and international governments;